RECEIVED

Jul 17 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001124
Lower Court Case No. 2020-CP-08-02455

Rita R. Greenawalt and
James M. Greenawalt,

Appellants,

v.

Nissan North America, Inc.,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

LAW OFFICES OF
BROOKS R. FUDENBERG, LLC
Brooks R. Fudenberg
14 Ashe Street
Charleston, SC 29403
Tel. (843) 416-2558
BRF@Fudenberglaw.com

C. STEVEN MOSKOS, P.A.
C. Steven Moskos
6650 Rivers Ave., Ste 210
N. Charleston, SC 29406
Tel. (843) 763-5297
Steve@moskoslawfirm.com
Attorneys for Appellants

QUESTION PRESENTED

I. Did the lower court err in the amount of its attorney fee award?

The Question includes among other things:

- A. Plaintiffs prevailed on claims under four remedial acts. Each act provides for attorney fees for prevailing plaintiffs. The lower court found Defendant had engaged in improper litigation conduct. The lower court then awarded as attorney fees about half the amount that a straight hours times rate calculation produces, reasoning the awarded amount would suffice to deter Defendant from future litigation misconduct. Did the lower court err in reducing the award?
- B. In establishing the lodestar amount, the lower court overlooked 9.9 hours that had been expended by Plaintiffs' counsel. Did it err in so doing?
- C. After Plaintiffs moved under Rule 59, SCRPC, to correct the above errors, the lower court denied their motion and their associated request for fees for work related to the motion on grounds the motion was improper under federal case law. But the motion was proper under South Carolina law, including the Supreme Court of South Carolina's opinion in Elam v. South Carolina Department of Transportation. Did the lower court err in applying federal case law that conflicts with the State appellate courts on a matter of State law?

OVERVIEW

This is a case under four remedial consumer-protection statutes.¹ Rita and James Greenawalt (“Greenawalts”), the Appellants here, prevailed below as Plaintiffs on claims under each statute. Each statute provides for awards of attorney fees to prevailing plaintiffs. Two statutes explicitly state the award is to be based on the actual time expended. Awards under the

¹ The South Carolina UTPA, Dealers Act, and Lemon Law, and the federal Warranty Act. The underlying case concerns an automobile the Greenawalts purchased as new that kept failing to perform as warranted. The parties settled the underlying case for \$35,000 and stipulated that Plaintiffs were the prevailing parties under all claims, leaving only the question of attorney fees for the lower court to decide. The validity and amount of the underlying settlement are not at issue in this appeal.

other two are subject to a six-factor test that leads to a lodestar figure of a reasonable number of hours multiplied by a reasonable hourly rate. The lodestar figure is presumptively correct.

The lower court found all six factors weigh in favor of the Greenawalts. It also found Respondent, Nissan North America, Inc. (“Nissan”), the Defendant below, had engaged in improper litigation tactics. “Defendant was playing whack-a-mole.” (R. p. 19).

The Order then noted most of the attorney hours the Greenawalts had submitted. It omitted 9.9 hours from its total of the requested hours. The hours it identified multiplied by the reasonable hourly rate came to \$126,765.00.

The lower court then rejected both Defendant’s proposed figure as “tantamount to saying no attorney’s fees were awarded” and Plaintiffs’ proposal to increase the award by a 1.5 multiplier as “too much.”

But it did not then award the \$126,765.00. Instead, it reduced the award by 41% of the calculated amount (the reduction was 43% of the actual total). It held the lesser amount was all that was necessary to deter Nissan from engaging in similar litigation tactics in the future. (R. p. 20) (“to deter the automotive dealers from the [litigation] conduct they displayed”).

Neither party had proposed that any award be measured against the need to deter improper litigation tactics. Moving to amend or alter the judgment, the Greenawalts argued that the Order had employed the wrong standard, as the standard was the number of hours reasonably incurred multiplied by the reasonable rate, not the amount needed to deter improper litigation tactics. The Greenawalts further argued that since the lower court had found all the factors properly employed to determine the amount of a fee to be in their favor, a full award—not a reduced award—was proper. The Greenawalts also asked the lower court to include the 9.9 hours it had overlooked.

Nissan’s opposition to the Greenawalts’ motion asked the court to justify its reduction on grounds the court had already rejected, such as what Nissan considered the small amount of the underlying \$35,000 award, and to reduce the hourly rate, if the court were to reach the merits of Plaintiffs’ motion, but also maintained—citing federal case law regarding the federal Rule 59—that the motion was improper, arguing that Rule 59 motions are proper only in three “highly unusual circumstances.”

The Greenawalts’ reply rebutted Nissan’s arguments regarding the merits, and maintained—citing the Supreme Court of South Carolina’s opinion in Elam v. South Carolina Department of Transportation—that whatever the standards might be under federal law for motions under the federal Rule 59, the standards under South Carolina law for motions under South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 59 allow their motion. Their reply also sought additional fees for the work on the motion and the reply.

The lower court denied their requests on grounds that Rule 59 motions are proper only in the same three highly unusual circumstances Nissan had listed, a proposition for which it cited only federal cases.

When all the time submitted to the lower court is considered, the reduction from an hours times rate calculation is 54.44%.

In their appeal, the Greenawalts do not seek to increase the underlying damages award. They do not seek to reverse the lower court’s denial of their request for a multiplier. They seek to have their fee award be based on the actual time expended, as mandated by statute.

More narrowly, the Greenawalts maintain Nissan’s abusive litigation tactics were, if anything, a reason to increase the fee award beyond an hours times rates calculation, not a reason to decrease the fee award.

The Greenawalts also maintain it was reversible error to fail to include all the hours requested prior to the first Order in the total of hours requested, and to deny the Greenawalts the fees requested in connection with the Rule 59 motion on grounds that their motion did not meet requirements imposed by federal law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case under four consumer-protection statutes. One is federal and three are State. These are:

- (1) the federal Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. 2301 et seq.,
- (2) the Enforcement of Motor Vehicle Express Warranties Act (“Lemon Law”), S.C. Code Ann. § 56-28-10 et seq.,
- (3) the Unfair Trade Practices Act (“UTPA”), S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-10 et seq., and
- (4) the Regulation of Manufacturers, Distributors and Dealers Act (“Dealers Act”), S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-10 et seq.

The Greenawalts filed suit on November 13, 2020. (R. pp. 25-36). Their complaint alleged violations of each of these statutes, as well as a general breach of warranty claim under common law. Nissan’s answer denied all liability and raised thirteen “affirmative defenses.” (R. pp. 37-56). Among these were that “Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted;” “that Plaintiffs’ claimed damages are solely the result of acts and omissions of third parties;” that “Plaintiffs’ claims are barred, in whole or in part, to the extent Plaintiffs have failed to mitigate their damages;” that “When the Subject Vehicle was allegedly placed into the stream of commerce, it comported to the technical state-of-the-art then existing and all applicable standards;” that “Any alleged implied warranties were modified, limited, or disclaimed;” that “Plaintiff did not rely on any alleged express or implied warranties;” and that

“Plaintiffs’ Complaint is barred by the misuse, abuse, and/or failure to properly maintain the Subject Vehicle.” (R. pp. 44-45).

Plaintiffs prevailed on each cause of action, as stated at the fees hearing on April 5, 2023. (R. p. 7) (Order re Pls’ Mot. for Att’y’s Fees (“Order”) p. 2). In fact, the parties had agreed to settle the underlying case, leaving only the issue of attorney’s fees for the trial court, and stipulating that “The Greenawalts are considered the prevailing parties as to all claims.” (R. pp. 6-7) (Order pp. 1-2).²

Each statute provides for attorney fees.³

² The settlement was agreed to orally on March 8, 2023 (R. p. 59:15-16, 70:9) (Tr. Hr’g 3:15-16, 14:9), and placed on the record in open court by counsel for both parties on April 5, 2023. The agreement was:

1. Nissan is to pay the Greenawalts \$35,000;
2. **The Greenawalts are considered the prevailing parties as to all claims;**
3. Nissan will not contest the Greenawalts’ costs;
4. The Parties will sign a Release as to all claims;
5. At turn in, the Greenawalts will provide Nissan with a copy of their current registration;
6. After turn in, Nissan, or its agent, shall overnight to the Greenawalts’ counsel the \$35,000 funds for the Greenawalts; and
7. **The attorney’s fees issue shall be submitted to a judge for determination.**

(R. pp. 6-7) (Order pp. 1-2) (emphasis added).

³ The Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act provides in 15 U.S.C. § 2310(d)(2) (emphasis added),

If a consumer finally prevails in any action brought under paragraph (1) of this subsection, he may be allowed by the court to recover as part of the judgment a sum equal to the aggregate amount of cost and expenses (**including attorneys’ fees based on actual time expended**) determined by the court to have been reasonably incurred by the plaintiff for or in connection with the commencement and prosecution of such action, unless the court in its discretion shall determine that such an award of attorneys’ fees would be inappropriate.

Cont’d

The Order Regarding Attorney Fees

The lower court issued its Order Regarding Plaintiffs' Motion for Attorney's Fees on June 12, 2013. (R. pp. 6-21). It rejected Nissan's argument (R. pp. 660-665) (Nissan's Resp. in Opp. pp. 2-7) that no fees should be allowed because the case was settled rather than tried. It set forth the six factors courts were instructed to consider in determining the amount of fee awards. (R. pp. 10-11) (Order pp. 5-6) (citing Jackson v. Speed, 326 S.C. 289, 486 S.E.2d 750 (1997)). The Order then went through the six Jackson factors, one by one, and found that each weighed in favor of the Greenawalts. (R. pp. 12-16) (Order pp. 7-11).

The South Carolina Lemon Law provides in § 56-28-50(D) (emphasis added),

Any consumer who finally prevails in any action brought under this chapter, may be allowed by the court to recover as part of the judgment a sum equal to the aggregate amount of cost and expenses (**including attorney's fees based on actual time expended**) and other such costs which are directly attributable to the nonconformity of the motor vehicle determined by the court to have been reasonably incurred by the plaintiff for or in connection with the commencement and prosecution of such action, unless the court in its discretion determines that such an award of attorney's fees would be inappropriate.

The South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act provides in § 39-5-140(a) (emphasis added),

Any person who suffers any ascertainable loss of money or property, real or personal, as a result of the use or employment by another person of an unfair or deceptive method, act or practice declared unlawful by Section 39-5-20 may bring an action individually, but not in a representative capacity, to recover actual damages. If the court finds that the use or employment of the unfair or deceptive method, act or practice was a willful or knowing violation of Section 39-5-20, the court shall award three times the actual damages sustained and may provide such other relief as it deems necessary or proper. Upon the finding by the court of a violation of this article, the court **shall award** to the person bringing such action under this section reasonable **attorney's fees** and costs.

The South Carolina Dealers Act provides in § 56-15-110(1) (emphasis added),

In addition to temporary or permanent injunctive relief as provided in Section 56-15-40(3)(c), any person who shall be injured in his business or property by reason of anything forbidden in this chapter may sue therefor in the court of common pleas and **shall recover** double the actual damages by him sustained, and the cost of suit, including **a reasonable attorney's fee**.

The Order noted 281.7 hours of work related to the statutory claims by C. Steven Moskos, the Greenawalts' sole counsel at that time, from May 14, 2020 through March 30, 2023. (R. p. 19) (Order p. 14) (noting hours of 215.4, 30.4, and 35.9 incurred during various stages of work) (see also R. pp. 550-67, 657-58, 722-24) (Time Records, 1st Supp. Time Records, 2d Supp. Time Records)). The Order did not mention the additional 9.9 hours of Mr. Moskos' work that had been presented to the lower court on May 23, 2023 for work from May 1 through May 23 (R. pp. 732-35), which were primarily incurred to force Nissan to fulfill the terms of the settlement that had been stated in open court on April 5, 2023. (R. pp. 725-31) (Mot. Enforce Settlement); (R. pp. 732-42); (Aff. Att'y's Fees; Ex.: Mot. Enforce Settlement).

At \$450 an hour, which the court found was a reasonable rate (R. p. 16), the 281.7 hours worked out to \$126,765.00. (281.7 hours times \$450 per hour=\$126,765.00). Yet the lower court awarded only \$75,000. (R. p. 20).

First, the lower court rejected both a suggested low amount and the Greenawalts' request for a multiplier.⁴

There is no doubt, at least to this Court, that Defendant was playing whack-a-mole when it came to settling this case and its position on attorney's fees. They claim Plaintiffs could have settled this case with less incurred in attorney's fees. However, the record seems to indicate Defendant did not make settling the case as easy as they now claim. They overlook they only agreed to more than a token offer until Plaintiffs were forced to hire an attorney who had to aggressively pursue that outcome. To say \$4,000 would be reasonable would be tantamount to saying no attorney's fees were awarded. Indeed, that is the amount Defendants concede as costs. However, the Plaintiffs' total attorney's fee request comes in at around \$195,000. (\$126,000 multiplied by a 1.5 multiplier). This seems "too much," all things considered.

(R. pp. 19-20). The Order continued,

⁴ "[A] court may consider . . . an enhancement of the lodestar figure with a 'multiplier.'" Layman v. State, 376 S.C. 434, 457, 658 S.E.2d 320, 332 (2008).

a fee of \$75,000 is reasonable and necessary to achieve the outcome and to deter the automotive dealers from the conduct they displayed in refusing to settle until after protracted efforts by the Plaintiffs' attorney forced them to settle. At the same time, an award of \$75,000 is a lot less than the amount Plaintiffs claim, but it is still reasonable and generous and should send a message to auto dealers to resolve these cases sooner rather than later.

(R. p. 20).

This amounted to a 41% reduction from the amount the lower court had calculated, and a 43% reduction in the pre-multiplier amount that had actually been requested.

The Order Denying the Greenawalts' Motion To Alter or Amend the Judgment

The Greenawalts timely moved on June 22, 2023, to alter or amend the June 12 judgment. (R. pp. 743-750). Citing Rules 52 and 59, SCRCR, they asked the court to undo the reduction from the lodestar amount or at least to further explain its rationale for departing from the lodestar (*id. passim*), and to include the additional 9.9 hours that had been presented to the Court (R. pp. 732-35) (3d Supp. Request) and yet not included in the court's calculation (R. p. 746).

Nissan's response in opposition was filed July 11, 2022 (R. pp. 756-64), one day after the deadline the Court had set for its response (R. p. 754). Substantively, it argued that further explanation of the circuit court's reasoning was unneeded (R. pp. 756, 758) (Response pp. 1, 3); that the lodestar amount is but a "starting point" (R. pp. 756, 758-60) (Response pp. 1, 3-5); that adherence to the lodestar is "inappropriate in a case of this scale" (*id.*); and therefore, "this Court's Order properly reduced the calculated lodestar amount" (R. p. 759) (Response p. 4). Nissan also requested the court revisit and reduce the hourly rate the fees Order had found to be reasonable. (R. pp. 760-63) (Response pp. 5-8). In support of its request to amend the hourly rate, Nissan presented several new cases it had not previously raised. (*Id.*) Under a

separate heading, Nissan again asked that the rate be amended in light of what Nissan claimed to see as the small amount of the underlying recovery. (R. pp. 763-64) (Response p. 8-9).

Nissan also argued that Plaintiffs' motion was improper. Citing federal case law, Nissan argued that motions to reconsider are granted only in three "highly unusual circumstances," specifically, "(1) to accommodate an intervening change in controlling law; (2) to account for new evidence not available at trial; or (3) to correct a clear error of law or prevent manifest injustice." (R. p. 757) (Response p. 2) (quoting U.S. ex rel. Becker v. Washington Savannah River Co., 305 F.3d 284, 290 (4th Cir. 2002); and citing Clemons v. Home Telecom Co., 2022 S.C. C.P. LEXIS 1062;⁵ Hutchinson v. Staton, 994 F.2d 1076, 1081 (4th Cir. 1993)). It argued that none of these circumstances were present, and the Court should therefore reject the motion. (R. pp. 757-58, 764). (Response pages 2-3, 9).

Nissan served and filed its Notice of Appeal of the Order re fees the next day, July 12, 2023, while the motion to amend was still before the lower court.⁶

The Greenawalts' reply in support of their motion (R. pp. 767-809) argued that Nissan's requests for reductions in the amount of the fee award and the rate were improper, as Nissan had not filed a Rule 59 motion requesting that relief (R. p. 769); and that the response itself was filed after the deadline the court had set (R. pp. 754-55, 768) (email from clerk of Jun 27, 2023, at 9:27 AM); and thus Nissan's requests to amend the Order should be denied.

⁵ Nissan cited this case only as "Clemons v. Home Telecom Co., 2022 S.C. C.P. LEXIS 1062, 1" without stating the court or year. Nissan provided no copy of the case. It is not available on Westlaw or Fastcase. It is another order by Judge Young denying another Rule 59 motion on the same grounds.

⁶ Nissan then dismissed its appeal the evening the Initial Briefs were due. References in the Initial Brief to "Respondents-Appellants" and "Appellant-Respondent" have been updated in this Final Brief to reflect the parties' current designations.

On the merits, as to the rate, the reply addressed Nissan's claim that the Greenawalts had not provided enough evidence to allow the court to find a reasonable rate, noting the Greenawalts had provided timesheets, and affidavits from their counsel and from other experienced attorneys attesting that the rate was reasonable and the time incurred was proper (R. pp. 770-71), provided prior orders from other South Carolina cases awarding that rate to the Greenawalts' counsel (R. p. 771 n.6), and argued that Nissan had presented no evidence—neither in its response to the original fee motion nor in its response to the motion to amend—that the rate was unreasonable (R. p. 771).

The reply extensively analyzed Nissan's newly-presented cases, none of which were South Carolina State court cases and all of which were from eight to 37 years old. (R. p. 770, 772, 778-82).

Plaintiffs' reply further stated that Nissan had offered no evidence to oppose Plaintiffs' affidavits as to the nature, extent, and difficulty of the case, nor to the reasonableness of the time spent. (R. p. 771).

The reply argued that Nissan's opposition contradicts itself: that on the one hand, it acknowledges that South Carolina courts do not employ a rule of proportionality between the fee request and the damages award, and on the other hand, it repeatedly contends the fee award should be reduced due to what Nissan claimed to be the humble amount of recovery. (R. p. 778-79).

The reply stated that "Nissan is needlessly prolonging this matter and increasing Plaintiffs' fees" by "refus[ing] to communicate with counsel so the Rogue can be returned to Nissan" to complete the underlying settlement; by improperly seeking relief for which it filed no Rule 59 motion; by effectively re-arguing the entire case; by introducing numerous cases

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