RECEIVED

Jun 12 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001124
Case No. 2020-CP-08-02455

Rita R. Greenawalt, and
James M. Greenawalt,

Appellants,

v.

Nissan North America, Inc.,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Blake T. Williams
Christopher C. Genovese
Patrick D. Quinn
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough, LLP
Post Office Box 11070
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 799-2000

*Attorneys for Respondent
Nissan North America, Inc.*

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT’S APPROPRIATE EXERCISE OF DISCRETION IN AWARDING ATTORNEY’S FEES SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

Appellants argue the trial court erred by failing to award all of the attorney’s fees sought. However, they point to no law requiring the trial court to award every dollar of attorney’s fees sought, and the statutes at issue do not require the trial court to award the full amount of attorney’s fees requested. Rather, the trial court was required to award attorney’s fees “reasonably incurred” or “reasonable attorney’s fees.” The trial court did just that, explaining its rationale for the award in a written order, which included a thorough analysis of the factors endorsed by the South Carolina Supreme Court. Other than their general displeasure with the amount of the attorney’s fee award, Appellants offer no compelling arguments on appeal for why the trial court’s determination of a reasonable attorney’s fee award should be disturbed on appeal. Accordingly, Nissan respectfully urges this Court to affirm the trial court’s Attorney’s Fee Order.

A. The Fee Shifting Statutes Expressly Give the Trial Court Discretion to Award Reasonable Attorney’s Fees.

The Fee Shifting Statutes at issue in this appeal permit Appellants to recover attorney’s fees as the prevailing party in the case below. Contrary to Appellants’ characterizations of the Fee Shifting Statutes, however, none “mandate”² an amount of attorney’s fees which the trial court

² Appellants contend on appeal that the lower court erred because the award of attorney’s fees was less than these statutes “mandate.” [Appellants’ Br. p. 35 (“Nissan should not get to pay less than the remedial statutes mandate . . .”).]. However, as discussed, *infra*, neither the plain language of these statutes nor the cases interpreting them support an argument that the Fee Shifting Statutes mandate an amount of fees a prevailing party is entitled to.

was required to award or require the trial court to award all the attorney's fees sought. Further, the trial court's determination of reasonable attorney's fees under the Fee Shifting Statutes should be reviewed under an abuse of discretion, not *de novo* standard.

1. The Fee Shifting Statutes Require Only That an Award of Attorney's Fees Be Reasonable.

All four of the Fee Shifting Statutes instruct that an award of attorney's fees must be reasonable. The relevant provisions of the federal MMWA and the South Carolina Lemon Law include nearly identical language regarding the recoverability of attorney's fees. Under the MMWA:

If a consumer finally prevails in any action brought under paragraph (1) of this subsection, he **may be allowed by the court to recover** as part of the judgment a sum equal to the aggregate amount of cost and expenses (including attorneys' fees based on actual time expended) **determined by the court to have been reasonably incurred** by the plaintiff for or in connection with the commencement and prosecution of such action, unless the court in its discretion shall determine that such an award of attorneys' fees would be inappropriate.

15 U.S.C. §2310(d)(2) (emphasis added). Under the South Carolina Lemon Law:

Any consumer who finally prevails in any action brought under this chapter, **may be allowed by the court to recover** as part of the judgment a sum equal to the aggregate amount of cost and expenses (including attorney's fees based on actual time expended) and other such costs which are directly attributable to the nonconformity of the motor vehicle **determined by the court to have been reasonably incurred** by the plaintiff for or in connection with the commencement and prosecution of such action, unless the court in its discretion determines that such an award of attorney's fees would be inappropriate.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-28-50(D). By their plain language, both statutes provide a trial court with discretion to determine: 1) whether attorney's fees should be recovered at all; and 2) if attorney's fees are warranted, what amount of attorney's fees were reasonably incurred by the plaintiff.

The SCUTPA provides that, “[u]pon the finding by the court of a violation of this article, **the court shall award** to the person bringing such action under this section **reasonable attorney's fees and costs.**” S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-140(a) (emphasis added).

Similarly, the Dealers Act provides in relevant part:

[A]ny person who shall be injured in his business or property by reason of anything forbidden in this chapter may sue therefor in the court of common pleas and **shall recover** double the actual damages by him sustained, and the cost of suit, including **a reasonable attorney's fee**.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-110(1) (emphasis added). As with the MMWA and the South Carolina Lemon Law, the plain language of the SCUTPA and the Dealers Act does not mandate the amount of attorney's fees which the court must award. Rather, they provide that a prevailing plaintiff is entitled to recover reasonable attorney's fees.

2. An Award of Attorney's Fees Under the Fee Shifting Statutes Is Reviewed for Abuse of Discretion.

The Fee Shifting Statutes in question permit an award of reasonable attorney's fees, which South Carolina law clearly holds is left to the trial court's determination and is not to be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion. "[T]he specific amount of attorneys' fees awarded pursuant to a statute authorizing reasonable attorneys' fees is left to the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion." *Layman v. State*, 376 S.C. 434, 444, 658 S.E.2d 320, 325 (2008) (citing *Jackson v. Speed*, 326 S.C. 289, 308, 486 S.E.2d 750, 760 (1997)). Appellants, arguing for *de novo* review, repeatedly suggest that the trial court failed to comply with the plain language of these statutes and binding precedent. These arguments misconstrue and overstate South Carolina law.

In support of their argument for *de novo* review, Appellants cite the South Carolina Supreme Court's decision in *Layman*, suggesting *Layman* requires this Court to apply a *de novo* standard of review under the circumstances. [Appellants' Br. p. 28]. This reliance is misplaced because the issue presented in *Layman* differs markedly from the instant case. *De novo* review was required in *Layman* because the trial court erred in not just the amount of the attorney's fee award (normally analyzed under an abuse of discretion standard), but in its interpretation of the state

action statute's requirements for the methodology used to calculate the award. *Layman*, 376 S.C. at 457, 658 S.E.2d at 332 (holding that a lodestar analysis, rather than a percentage-of-recovery calculation, was the appropriate method of assessing reasonable attorney's fees under the state action statute).

Unlike *Layman*, here there is no dispute that reasonable attorney's fees under the fee shifting statutes are determined pursuant to the six factors set specified by the Supreme Court. *See Jackson v. Speed*, 326 S.C. 289, 486 S.E.2d 750 (1997) (setting forth the "six common law factors of reasonableness"). Nissan makes no contention on appeal that Appellants were not entitled to an award of attorney's fees under the Fee Shifting Statutes, and Nissan agrees with Appellants that the Fee Shifting Statutes are not ambiguous or in need of any statutory interpretation by the Court. [Appellants' Br. p. 31, n.17]. As such, the issues requiring *de novo* review in *Layman* are not present in this appeal, and this Court should therefore apply the abuse of discretion standard of review in considering the propriety of the trial court's attorney's fee award.

B. The Trial Court's Determination of Reasonable Attorney's Fees Should Be Affirmed.

The statutes at issue in this appeal delegate to trial courts the discretion to determine what amount of attorney's fees are reasonable. The trial court did just that in this case, in a detailed 15-page order. (Order on Pls.' Mot. for Att'y's Fees p. 15; R. p. 20.) Appellants have not produced evidence of an abuse of discretion by the trial court sufficient to overturn its award of attorney's fees. Moreover, there is ample evidence in the record to demonstrate that the attorney's fee award was reasonable. Accordingly, the Court should affirm the trial court's decision.

On June 12, 2023, the trial court entered its Order on Plaintiffs' Motion for Attorney's Fees. The order awarded Appellants \$75,000 in attorney's fees, which the court found was "reasonable and necessary to achieve the outcome" in the case. (*Id.*; R. p. 20.) The order included

a detailed explanation of the trial court’s analysis in determining the reasonableness of the award, and was consistent with the requirements of South Carolina law. As such, the trial court’s attorney’s fee award should be affirmed. “Decisions as to the amount of attorneys’ fees should ordinarily be made by trial courts. When a trial court’s decision is made on a sound evidentiary basis and is adequately explained with specific findings—as the law requires—we defer to the trial court’s discretion.” *Horton v. Jasper Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 423 S.C. 325, 331, 815 S.E.2d 442, 445 (2018).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has endorsed the following six factors when determining a reasonable attorney’s fee: (1) the nature, extent, and difficulty of the case; (2) the time necessarily devoted to the case; (3) professional standing of counsel; (4) contingency of compensation; (5) beneficial results obtained; and (6) customary legal fees for similar services. *Jackson*, 326 S.C. at 308 (citing *Blumberg v. Nealco, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 492, 427 S.E.2d 659 (1993)). The Supreme Court has held “that a court should consider all six factors in making its decision, and [has] explained ‘none of these six factors is controlling.’” *Horton*, 423 S.C. at 330, 815 S.E.2d at 444–45 (2018) (quoting *Baron Data Sys., Inc. v. Loter*, 297 S.C. 382, 384, 377 S.E.2d 296, 297 (1989)). Further, “[t]he trial court should make specific findings of fact on the record for each of these factors.” *Horton*, 423 S.C. at 330, 815 S.E.2d at 445 (quoting *Burton v. York Cty. Sheriff’s Dep’t*, 358 S.C. 339, 358, 594 S.E.2d 888, 898 (Ct. App. 2004)). The trial court’s order satisfied these requirements.

The trial court issued a thorough 15-page Order on Plaintiffs’ Motion for Attorney’s Fees which articulated the basis for its award of attorney’s fees. (*See generally* Order on Pls.’ Mot. for Att’y’s Fees; R. pp. 6-20.) The order first explained the trial court’s determination that Appellants were the prevailing party and were thus entitled to an award of attorney’s fees. (*Id.* p. 2; R. p. 7.)

The order next articulated the logic and purpose behind the award; outlining the purpose of the fee shifting statutes at issue and general guidelines set forth in case law for determining a reasonable attorney's fee award. (*Id.* p. 6; R. p. 11.) The order also thoroughly discussed all six of the *Jackson* factors. (*Id.* pp. 7-11; R. pp. 12-16.) After setting forth a detailed explanation of the considerations weighed by the trial court in arriving at the attorney's fee award, the order concluded by finding "that a fee of \$75,000 is reasonable and necessary to achieve the outcome and to deter the automotive dealers from the conduct they displayed" and although "\$75,000 is a lot less than the amount Plaintiffs claim, . . . it is still reasonable and generous and should send a message to auto dealers to resolve these cases sooner rather than later." (*Id.* p. 15; R. p. 20.)

The trial court's determination that an award of \$75,000 is "reasonable and necessary to achieve the outcome" realized by Appellants in the case is consistent with factor (5) of the *Jackson* analysis, the "beneficial results obtained." The South Carolina Supreme Court has stated that this factor "aids in determining whether an award is appropriate when considering whether the services of a lawyer facilitated a favorable result." *Glasscock v. Glasscock*, 304 S.C. 158, 161, 403 S.E.2d 313, 315 (1991). Here, the trial court conducted a thorough analysis of the beneficial results obtained by Appellants. The trial court acknowledged that prior to filing suit, Appellants participated in the BBB arbitration, and "the BBB arbitrator awarded a repurchase but did not award attorney's fees." (Order on Pls.' Mot. for Att'y's Fees p. 12; R. p. 17.) The trial court found that after nearly three years of litigation, "[w]ith counsel's help, Nissan has now agreed to repurchase the car . . . and to put the issue of attorney's fees before the court for resolution." (*Id.* p. 11; R. 16.) The trial court determined this was a beneficial result, (*id.* p. 11; R. p. 16.), and determined that an award of \$75,000 in attorney's fees was "reasonable *and necessary to achieve the outcome*," (*id.* p. 15; R. p. 20.). There is no credible argument that the trial court's order fell

short of the Supreme Court's mandate for attorney's fee awards. Most of the law cited in the trial court's order to justify its findings was adopted directly from Appellants' Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Attorney Fees. Indeed, but for the Court's ultimate determination of the attorney's fee award, Appellants say the order is "rock solid." [Appellants' Br. p. 35].

In their Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Attorney Fees, Appellants urged the trial court to "view the case *as a whole* and award fees commensurate with the service provided . . ." (Mem. Supp. of Mot. for Att'y's Fees p. 5; R. p. 613) (emphasis added) (citing *Gimarc v. Neal*, 417 F. Supp. 129 (D.S.C. 1976)).³ The trial court did just that. Now on appeal, Appellants clarify that what they actually sought was not a dispassionate, holistic assessment of the attorney's fee issue by a neutral jurist, but rather a mechanistic rubber stamp of whatever timesheets they submitted to the trial court. The record clearly demonstrates, however, that the trial court complied with the requirements of the Fee Shifting Statutes and the South Carolina Supreme Court's directives and issued a thorough order with clear, well-supported findings demonstrating the reasonableness of the attorney's fee award.

C. Appellants Offer No Credible Argument to Demonstrate that the Trial Court's Award Was an Abuse of Discretion.

In seeking to overturn the award, Appellants allege the Attorney's Fee Order was an abuse of the trial court's discretion for two primary reasons. First, Appellants appear to argue that the only permissible attorney's fee award is what Appellants consider "full" compensation. That is, anything less than an award for every 0.1 hours of billable time submitted by Appellants' attorney is an abuse of discretion. [Appellants' Br. p. 2-3 (arguing that because the *Jackson* factors favored

³ The *Gimarc* decision also acknowledges that while needlessly parsimonious fee awards "discourage good lawyers . . . overly generous attorneys' fees might be productive of otherwise unworthy litigation." *Gimarc*, 417 F. Supp. at 132.

Appellants, “a full award—not a reduced award—was proper”)]. This is an untenable position, as neither the case law nor the Fee Shifting Statutes endorse this rigid view of the requirements for an attorney’s fee award.

Appellants argue the South Carolina Supreme Court’s decision in *Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp.*, 387 S.C. 22, 691 S.E.2d 135 (2010) (“*Austin I*”) requires an award of fees and costs to “fully compensate” a prevailing plaintiff. [Appellants’ Br. p. 29]. Not so. In fact, the discussion in *Austin I* cited by Appellants says nothing about the *amount* of attorney’s fees that should be awarded. Instead, the Supreme Court held that a plaintiff should not be forced to elect one of several remedies and thereby forego a statutory right to attorney’s fees as the prevailing party in a lawsuit. *Id.*, 387 S.C. at 56–57, 691 S.E.2d at 153 (holding that plaintiff was not prohibited from recovering punitive damages under fraud claim and attorney’s fees under Dealers Act claim, even though election of remedies doctrine barred double recovery of actual damages under these claims).⁴

Likewise, all four Fee Shifting Statutes make it clear that in any award of attorney’s fees Appellants were entitled only to *reasonable* attorney’s fees as determined by the trial court in its discretion. And the South Carolina Supreme Court has repeatedly held that “the specific amount of attorneys’ fees awarded pursuant to a statute authorizing reasonable attorneys’ fees is left to the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion.” *Horton*, 423

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